Page 1 of 50

RECEIVED 10-15-2020 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

## SUPREME COURT STATE OF WISCONSIN

## Appeal No. 2019AP000096

## FRIENDS OF FRAME PARK U.A.

Plaintiff-Appellant-Respondent,

v.

CITY OF WAUKESHA

Defendant-Respondent-Petitioner.

Appeal from the Waukesha County Circuit Court, Case No. 17-CV-2197 Michael O. Bohren and Kathryn W. Foster, Presiding Judges Reversed by the Court of Appeals

## PETITION FOR REVIEW AND APPENDIX

John M. Bruce State Bar No. 1005232 West & Dunn, LLC 1308 Washington Street, Ste 205 Two Rivers, WI 54241 (920) 249-5533 Attorneys for Defendant-Respondent-Petitioner, City of Waukesha

Dated: October 13, 2020

i

# **

### **STATEMENT OF ISSUES**

1. Is the test to be applied to determine if a litigant is entitled to attorney's fees under Wis. Stat. § 19.37(2)(a) of the Public Records Law whether the legal custodian properly withheld records under an exception to that law initially, regardless of whether commencement of an action was a cause of the release of the records?

The Court of Appeals held that if a legal custodian improperly withholds records initially, the custodian is subject to an award of attorney's fees upon their voluntary disclosure regardless of whether commencement of an action was a cause of the release of the records.

2. May a draft contract which is the subject of negotiation between a municipality and a private entity be withheld from disclosure under the Public Records Law

pursuant to Wis. Stat. §§ 19.35(1)(a) and 19.85(1)(e) where the contract has not yet been presented to the municipality's governing body for review, and before it meets in closed session to do so?

The Court of Appeals held that such a draft contract must be disclosed prior to review and consideration by the governing body, regardless of whether the governing body properly convened in closed session to review and consider it pursuant to Wis. Stats. § 19.85(1)(e).

## STATEMENT ON CRITERIA FOR REVIEW

The decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with other Court of Appeals' decisions as it modifies the test established in prior case law to be applied in determining whether a litigant in an action brought under the Public Records Law is entitled to an award of attorney's fees pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 19.37(2)(a). While the governing case law has required that commencement of an action under that law be a substantial cause of the release of records as a prerequisite to an award of attorney's fees, the Court of Appeals in this case holds that an action need not be a cause of the release of records where the

custodian improperly relies on an exception to the Public Records Law in initially withholding the records, and the records are voluntarily released subsequently. For these reasons, review is appropriate pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 809.62(1r)(d).

In addition, the Court of Appeals' modification of the test for determining whether a litigant is entitled to attorney's fees under the Public Records Law will have a statewide impact, as questions whether attorney's fees are to be awarded will arise in most litigation. In determining whether the holding of the Court of Appeals is appropriate, the Supreme Court will help develop, clarify or harmonize the law. Review is therefore appropriate under Wis. Stat. § 809.62(1r)(c).

Finally, this case presents an opportunity for the Supreme Court to clarify the law regarding what must be established for the exceptions to the requirement of a governmental body to meet in open session pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 19.85 to be grounds for denying public access to a record under Wis. Stats. § 19.35(1)(a). If an

exception to the requirement to meet in open session applies, when may that exception be used as grounds for denying public access to a record? This is an issue which is likely to arise unless addressed by the Supreme Court, and therefore review is proper under Wis. Stats. § 809.62(1r)(c)3.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal of an order granting a summary judgment motion to dismiss a mandamus action brought against the City under the Public Records Law by Friends of Frame Park, U.A. ("Friends"). (R. 49). Friends initially claimed in its Complaint that the City had improperly failed to disclose certain records in response to a request made in writing on October 9, 2017. (R. 2 Ex. A; P-App. 169-170). Some records were disclosed in response to that request; some were not. The City Attorney wrote a letter to the requester dated October 23, 2017, explaining why particular records, draft contracts between the City and a private entity, were being withheld. (R. 3 Ex. B; P-App. 171-172). Wis Stat. § 19.85(1)(e) was relied on in

withholding the documents, pursuant to Wis. Stat. 19.35(1)(a).

This action was commenced on December 18, 2017. (R. 1). The records that had been withheld – the draft contracts – were disclosed two days after commencement of the action. (R. 14, 7-8 ¶¶ 21-22). They were disclosed one day after the City's Common Council had met in closed session to review and consider those documents. The Common Council met in closed session pursuant to the exception to the Open Meetings Law set forth in Wis. Stat. § 19.85(1)(e). The City Attorney wrote a letter to the requestor explaining that they were being disclosed because the reasons for withholding them no longer applied after review of the draft contracts by the Common Council in closed session. (R. 14, 8 ¶ 24).

Although the records regarding which Friends commenced the action had been disclosed, Friends amended its complaint, claiming that additional record requests were made subsequent to the commencement of the action, and it believed those requests had not been

responded to appropriately. (R. 14). Thereafter, the City filed a motion for summary judgment. (R. 26). A hearing was held on the motion. The Circuit Court rendered its decision on the motion from the bench. (R. 69; P-App. 136-168). A written order was entered on November 26, 2018. (R. 49; P-App. 134-135). This appeal ensued.

Friends on appeal did not claim that the City had improperly failed to withhold any records outside of the draft contracts which were disclosed two days after commencement of its action. It effectively abandoned such claims, by virtue of which it continued the action in Circuit Court, on appeal. It maintained on appeal only that the draft contracts disclosed immediately after its action was commenced had not been disclosed as required by the Public Records Law.

The Circuit Court granted the motion for summary judgment determined that the City appropriately withheld the draft contracts and other documents, and that its disclosure of the draft contracts had not been caused by commencement of Friend's action, but was the result of

the fact that the City's Common Council was not interested in pursuing negotiations relevant to the draft contracts. (R. 69; P-App. 136-168).

The Court of Appeals reversed the Circuit Court. (Court of Appeals' Decision; P-App. 101-133). First, the Court of Appeals addressed the appropriate test to be used in determining when a party prevails in an action under Wis. Stat. § 19.37(2)(a). While acknowledging that, according to prior case law, the test for determining whether an award of fees is appropriate is whether the commencement of an action was a cause of the disclosure of records, it held that the test was not to be applied in this case. Claiming to clarify prior decisions, it held that the test to be imposed was one not previously employed by the courts. Instead, it held the question to be addressed is whether the exception from the Public Records Law relied on by the City applied. (Decision ¶ 4; P-App. 103). Therefore, according to the Court of Appeals, Friends was entitled to fees, regardless of whether its action was a cause of the release of the records, if the disclosure of the

records had been delayed by the City's improper reliance on an exception to the Public Records Law. (Decision ¶ 5; P-App. 103-104).

Having determined that Friends' action need not have been a cause of the disclosure of the records two days after commencement of the action, the Court of Appeals turned to the reasons on which the City relied in temporarily withholding those records. The Court of Appeals did not find that the Common Council violated the Open Meetings Law when it met in closed session to review and consider the draft contracts pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 19.85(1)(e). It made no determination regarding the propriety of the closed session but assumed it had been proper. (Decision ¶ 49; P-App. 128). It nonetheless held that the draft contracts which were the subject of the closed session were withheld in violation of the Public Records Law. It found, in other words, that the draft contracts should have been disclosed to Friends before they were reviewed by the Common Council in closed session. Therefore, according to the Court of Appeals,

Friends is entitled to an award of attorney's fees.

(Decision ¶ 51; P-App. 129-130).

The Court of Appeals remanded the case to the Circuit Court for a determination of attorney's fees to be awarded, with directions. (Decision ¶ 55; P-App. 133).

### ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT OF APPEALS HAS CHANGED THE TEST BY WHICH IT IS TO BE DETERMINED WHETHER ATTORNEY'S FEES ARE TO BE AWARDED UNDER THE PUBLIC RECORDS LAW

Case law prior to the Court of Appeals' decision in this case clearly set forth the test to be applied in determining whether attorney's fees are to be awarded under Wis. Stat. § 19.37. "The test to determine whether a party has prevailed under sec. 19.37(2) is whether there is a causal connection between the litigant's mandamus action and the agent's compliance with disclosure." *State ex rel. Eau Claire Leader-Telegram v. Barrett*, 148 Wis.2d 769, 773, 436 N.W.2d 885, 887 (Ct. App. 1989). The mere fact that the disclosure occurred after initiation of the mandamus action, however, is insufficient to establish the required causal connection. *Racine Educ. Ass'n v. Board of*  *Educ.*, 145 Wis.2d 518, 522-23, 427 N.W.2d 414, 416 (Ct. App. 1988).

"[A] party seeking attorney fees under § 19.37(2), Stats., must show that prosecution of the action could reasonably be regarded as necessary to obtain the information and that a 'causal nexus' exists between the action and the agency's surrender of the information." *State ex rel. Vaughan v. Faust*, 143 Wis. 2d 868, 871, 422 N.W.2d 898, 899 (Ct. App. 1988). According to the Court of Appeals in *WTMJ, Inc. v. Sullivan*, 204 Wis.2d 452, 454, 555 N.W.2d 140 (Ct. App. 1996):

> "In Wisconsin, the test of cause is whether the actor's action was a substantial factor in contributing to the result. Id. The action may be one of several causes; it need not be the sole cause. *Clark v. Leisure Vehicles, Inc.*, 96 Wis. 2d 607, 617, 292 N.W.2d 630, 635 (1980). Causation is a question of fact, and we will not overturn a trial court's findings as to causation unless they are clearly erroneous. *See Eau Claire Press Co. v. Gordon*, 176 Wis.2d 154, 160, 499 N.W.2d 918, 920 (Ct. App. 1993). However, in an open records case, causation is often an inference drawn from documentary or undisputed facts. In that situation, as here, we will affirm

the trial court's findings as to causation if they are reasonable." *Id.* at 160-61, 499 N.W.2d at 920.

In the past, the Court of Appeals relied on Federal case law to support this test. In *Racine Education Assoc. v. Board of Education*, 145 Wis.2d 518, 522, 427 N.W.2d 327-328, 385 N.W.2d 414 (Ct. App. 1988). for example, the Court of Appeals stated as follows:

> "To determine the meaning of 'prevails in whole or in substantial part,' we adopted the analysis of *Cox v. United State Department of Justice*, 601 F.2d 1 (D.C. Cir. 1979), which held:

> [T]he party seeking such fees in the absence of a court order [compelling disclosure] must show that prosecution of the action could reasonably be regarded as necessary to obtain the information, and that a causal nexus exists between that action and the agency's surrender of the information. Whether a party has made such a showing in a particular case is a factual determination that is within the province of the district court to resolve. In making this determination, it is appropriate for the district court to consider, *inter alia*, whether the agency, upon actual and reasonable notice of the request, made a good faith effort to search out material and to pass on whether it should be

disclosed....If rather than the threat of an adverse court order either a lack of actual notice of a request or an unavoidable delay accompanied by due diligence in the administrative processes was the actual reason for the agency's failure to respond to a request, then it cannot be said that the complainant substantially prevailed in his suit.

See also Church of Scientology of California v.

*Harris*, 653 F.2d 584, 587-88 (D.C. Cir. 1981). Federal cases have therefore established that this is largely a question of causation -- did the institution and prosecution of the litigation cause the agency to release the documents obtained during the pendency of the litigation. *Id.* at 587."

The Court of Appeals in its decision in this case acknowledges that the test "most often invoked" to determine the prevailing party in public records cases is whether the lawsuit is the cause or at least a cause of the release of the records. (Decision ¶ 3; P-App. 102-103). Nonetheless, it found that test was not applicable in this case, or indeed in other cases with similar circumstances: "We hold that where litigation is pending and an authority releases a public record because a public records exception is no longer applicable, causation is not the appropriate inquiry for determining whether the requesting party 'substantially prevailed.'

Rather, the key consideration is whether the authority properly invoked the exception in its initial decision to withhold release." (Decision  $\P$  4 P-App. 103).

The Court of Appeals holding is problematic on its face, as it seems self-contradictory. If an authority releases a public record "because a public records exception is no longer applicable" the exception necessarily must have applied at some point. If not, the exception could never be "no longer" applicable. It would make no sense then to ascertain whether an authority properly invoked the exception, as it perforce was properly invoked before it could become "no longer applicable." Presumably, therefore, the Court of Appeals intended to refer to a situation where an exception was invoked improperly, and the record was released when it was believed the exception improperly relied on no longer applied. Regardless, however, the Court of Appeals notes that the effect of its holding is that Friends is a prevailing party "even if the lawsuit was not an actual cause" of the release of the records in question. (Decision ¶ 5; P. App. 103).

Only the Supreme Court has the authority to overturn, modify or withdraw language from a previously published

decision of the Court of Appeals. *Cook v. Cook*, 208 Wis.2d 166, 189-90, 560 N.W.2d 246 (1997). Here, the Court of Appeals seeks to, at the least, modify language from prior published decisions, something it cannot do.

The Court of Appeals acknowledges that it must reconcile its holding with what "at least superficially" appears to be inconsistent language in prior decisions. (Decision ¶ 4; P-App. 103). Indeed, it admits that "throughout the years we have continuously focused on causation, or what the federal circuits term 'the catalyst theory." (Decision ¶ 25; P-App 114). The Court of Appeals contends, however, that this continual and lengthy focus on causation is irrelevant, because "several cases focus on whether an unreasonable delay was caused by the authority's improper reliance on an exception under the public records law, regardless of the subsequent voluntary disclosure." (Decision ¶ 26; P-App. 115). As an example it refers to the case of *Portage Daily Register v*. Columbia County Sheriff's Department, 2008 WI App 30, ¶ 8, 308 Wis.2d 357, 746 N.W.2d 525, noting that in that case the Court of Appeals stated that the matter was not moot as it was necessary to determine whether the plaintiff was entitled

to damages and fees due to the failure to disclose the records in question. (Decision ¶ 26; P-App. 115).

It is unclear why the Court of Appeals believes this supports its decision to depart from the long-established test requiring that an action be at least a cause of the release of records. It is true that a matter is not moot in all cases where records have been voluntarily released, and that fees may be awarded in those circumstances. However, it does not follow from this that in that case attorney's fees may be awarded regardless of whether the action was a cause of the release of the records.

The Court of Appeals, in what may be an effort in minimize the significance of its departure from the case law, states that "[a]fter all, when an authority inexcusably delays in releasing records to the point that prompts litigation, *it can typically be inferred that the lawsuit was at least 'a' cause of the release*." (Emphasis added) (Decision ¶ 27; P-App. 116). However, as was noted above, it is clear under the law that the fact that disclosure occurred after initiation of a mandamus action is insufficient to establish the required causal connection. *Racine Educ. Assoc.*, 145 Wis.2d at 522-23, 427 N.W.2d at 416. To be entitled to fees, the

prevailing party in a Public Records Law action "must assert something more than *post hoc, ergo propter hoc.*" *Racine Educ. Assoc.*, 129 Wis. 2d at 326.

Here, the Court of Appeals asserts that the disclosure of records after the commencement of an action is, in itself, *usually sufficient* to establish a causal connection between the action and the disclosure. In other words, the Court of Appeals is saying that *post hoc ergo propter hoc* applies in most instances, contrary to prior cases.

## II. THE COURT OF APPEALS' RELIANCE ON FEDERAL CASE LAW IS UNFOUNDED

The Court of Appeals relies on the case of *Church of Scientology v. United States Postal Service*, 400 F.2d 486 (9th Cir. 1983) as persuasive authority in support of its reinterpretation of the case law. It notes that the 9th Circuit instructed the district court on remand to consider the following factors in determining whether the Church had substantially prevailed under FOIA (as quoted in the Court of Appeals decision): "(1) when the documents were released; and (2) what actually triggered the release to the Church; and (3) *whether the Church was entitled to the documents at an earlier time in view of the fact the exemption*  [upon which the Postal Service initially relied] was eliminated." 700 F.2d at 492. (Emphasis in Court of Appeals Decision ¶ 31; P-App. 119).

It is from the third factor identified by the 9th Circuit for the district court's consideration, as referred to in a footnote to the 9th Circuit's decision, that the Court of Appeals infers that the *Church of Scientology* case "arguably refines" the *Cox* test "previously adopted by this court." According to the Court of Appeals, "[t]he three factor test set forth in *Church of Scientology* allows for a more flexible inquiry, one that permits consideration of factors other than causation." (Decision ¶ 32; P-App. 119).

Therefore, the Court of Appeals concludes that "[t]he third factor--whether a requester was entitled to the record at an earlier time--should control where the delay in a voluntary release can be attributed to the authority's reliance on a public records exception. Where that is the case, the trial court must scrutinize the claimed exception, rather than whether the lawsuit caused the release, to determine whether a requesting party has prevailed in whole or in substantial part." (Decision ¶ 33; P-App. 120). The Court of Appeals has misconstrued the *Church of Scientology* case.

First, the Court of Appeals does not establish that the 9th Circuit abandoned the causation test in that case and held that the third factor it instructed the district court to consider determined eligibility for fees in FOIA cases, regardless of whether an action was a cause of the release of records. It is very unlikely that the 9th Circuit would relegate such a holding to a footnote to its decision. More significantly, because the factor selected by the Court of Appeals as changing the test for an award of attorney's fees was one of three factors referred to by the 9th Circuit, and one of the other factors to be considered was "what actually triggered the documents release" it can hardly be said on this basis that the 9th Circuit intended to hold that cause is not a factor in the determining eligibility for attorney's fees.

Moreover, the *Church of Scientology* case expressly states and even reiterates the *Cox* test previously relied on by the Court of Appeals and confirms its applicability. Thus, the 9th Circuit states: "To be eligible for an award of attorney's fees in a FOIA suit, the plaintiff must present evidence that two threshold conditions have been satisfied. The plaintiff must show that: (1) the filing of the action could reasonably have been regarded as necessary to obtain the information; and (2) the filing of the action had a substantial causative effect on the delivery of the information." *Id.* 700 F.2d at 489. Also: "On remand, in determining whether the Church is eligible for attorney's fees--that is, whether it has substantially prevailed--the district court should determine: (1) whether the Church's suit was reasonably necessary to obtain the information; and (2) whether the suit had a substantial causative effect on the release of the documents in question." *Id.* 700 F.2d at 490.

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