# FILED

NOV 1 2 2020

# STATE OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

FRIENDS OF FRAME PARK, U.A.,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

**Appeal No. 2019AP96** Cir. Ct. No. 17-CV-2197

CITY OF WAUKESHA,

Defendant-Respondent-Petitioner

## APPEAL FROM A FINAL ORDER ENTERED ON NOVEMBER 26, 2018 IN CIRCUIT COURT FOR WAUKESHA COUNTY, THE HONORABLE MICHAEL O. BOHREN, PRESIDING

#### **RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

Joseph R. Cincotta State Bar No. 1023024 Attorney for Plaintiff-Appellant

#### P.O. Address:

400 East Wisconsin Avenue – Suite 205 Milwaukee, WI 53202 414-416-1291 Jrc4@chorus.net Case 2019AP000096

#

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. The Court of Appeals properly applied the open records law as per the language of the statute and this Court's rulings in determining that a City may not withhold documents shared with outside non-public private parties.

The Court of Appeals determination that the City was wrong to withhold the draft contracts is well grounded in both the language and policy of the Open Records law and earlier decisions of this Court and the Courts of Appeals. The issue is whether the records could be withheld based on the "competitive/bargaining" provisions of the open meetings law.

The competitive or bargaining exception is designed to allow municipalities to get the best contract from a vendor. For example, when the City wants to hire a sanitation contractor, it may get three bids and engage in internal discussions about the bids. Thus, in an open meetings context, those discussions between internal city officials could be held in confidence until the winning bidder is selected. This would be an appropriate application of the competitive/bargaining exception. It would also sensibly apply to public records that contain information about the City's internal discussions.

Another possible circumstance would be if a municipality was competing against others for an award of some kind. Again, it would likely be appropriate to keep confidential internal communications about how the City was planning to

compete for the award.

Here, the City's justifications are somewhat confused, overlapping and ultimately unpersuasive. If the City was competing for something (which was not identified by the City in a concrete way) then *internal* discussions or emails might be properly withheld. However, Friends was not asking for internal emails. Friends requested communications and draft documents between the City and a private third party, Big Top. Thus, there was no way that disclosure of those documents could impact the City's ability to compete with another entity for something- they had already been disclosed to Big Top.

#### The Court of Appeals agreed:

- ¶43 The City's first stated reason for not releasing the draft contract was that it could suffer competitive harm if the document were disclosed. This document, however, was marked up and exchanged among City and Big Top representatives in a succession of back-and-forth edits. To state the obvious, then, any harm from disclosing this document could not relate to the City's negotiating strategy with respect to Big Top.
- ¶44. Nor has the City shown that it would have suffered any *other* type of competitive harm had it made the contract available to a member of the public in October 2017. Although the City asserts that another "entity" was competing with it, the evidence shows that the only competition was from one or more business groups that may have been working to locate a Northwoods League team in a different municipality.

See Petitioners App at p. 25-26; Decision at  $\P$  43 and 44.

Moreover, the reality appears to be that it was really Big Top that was competing for the baseball franchise or rights, not the City. The City's use of the

Response to <u>Retition</u> for Review

confidential.

competitive/bargaining exception to withhold records from the public (but not from Big Top) ends up using the exception to benefit a private party. Understood is this light, the posture of the parties undermines the idea that the City was negotiating with Big Top about something that needed to remain

In that connection, the City's other justification — which is that it needed to keep the redline contracts between it and Big Top confidential because it was negotiating a deal with Big Top also fails. As the Court of Appeals explained:

The City's second justification—that the draft contract required common council review before release—fares no better. In his deposition Lahner could not clarify how nondisclosure prior to common council review could create any competitive advantage for the City. For example, when asked how public disclosure during the spring and summer of 2017 could have affected the City's bargaining position, Lahner replied, "I don't know." Thus, the City has not met its burden of showing that "competitive or bargaining reasons require[d]" nondisclosure.

Petitioners App at p.26 Decision at ¶ 46.

The Court of Appeals City of Milton decision is from 2007. The notion of public-private partnerships where City Officials and Planners go from being regulators to quasi-partners is not new. The Court of Appeals was faced with almost exactly the same arguments in City of Milton that the City put forward in this case. The Court of Appeals decision below relied heavily and appropriately on City of Milton. And just like that decision, the decision in this matter is well reasoned and comprehensive, providing excellent and appropriate guidance for citizens and governmental bodies.

This could explain why the City is attempting to add new facts into the record – i.e. that the records were withheld so that they could be reviewed at a closed session meeting by the Common Council ahead of releasing them to the public.

#### As the City argues in it Petition:

Friends' argued the City's Common Council improperly entered into closed session to review the draft contracts. Therefore, it violated the Open Meetings Law when relying on that statutory exemption, and as a result that exemption could not be used in support of nondisclosure of the records in question.

#### See Petition at p. 27

There is no citation to this supposed argument and it did not happen. The December 19<sup>th</sup> meeting minutes are included in the record. The format used by the City shows that minutes of meetings are prepared on top of the underlying agenda. Thus the minutes include the underlying agenda. This is relevant because neither the minutes nor the underlying agenda show that the City had properly noticed or went into closed session. However, based on this faulty premise, the City goes on to argue:

In this case, however, the documents in question were the subjects of the closed session; they were the documents which were to be reviewed and considered in closed session, and possibly acted on by the Common Council. If the review and consideration of those documents was appropriate in closed session under the Open Meetings Law pursuant to § 19.85(1)(c), it is difficult to understand why the documents themselves should have been disclosed before the properly held closed session.

#### Petition at p. 30

F<u>ile</u>d 11-12-2020

Again, this case was not about challenging the use of documents in a closed session meeting of the Common Council. The City's addition of these facts seems designed to create a more palatable context in which to justify its withholding of the records. The City argues in essence that, "the documents were only being withheld so that the Common Council could get the first crack at them and then we were planning to release them publicly." This is not accurate and finds no support in the record. Indeed, as described above, the City Administrator could not even recall if he had supplied the records to the Common Council members for use at the December 19, 2017 meeting. *See Record at 42 – Depo of K. Lahner at p. 73*.

Moreover, the Court of Appeals considered that scenario in its decision.

As it rightly explained:

City of Milton prohibits a municipality from invoking Wis. Stat. § 19.85(l)(e) to "save costs" or otherwise prevent "the possible disruption of its plans." City of Milton, 300 Wis. 2d. 649, H17-18. This suggests that even if nondisclosure prior to common council review would have streamlined negotiations by, say, avoiding public dissent, § 19.85(l)(e) still might not apply. Nor, under City of Milton, would the City be justified in temporarily withholding the draft contract until the common council meeting on the grounds that the contract would be available sometime thereafter. There is "no authority [for] allowing an exception to the requirement of open meetings on the basis of the opportunity for future public input." ... Finally, to the extent nondisclosure was meant to accommodate Big Top's interests, City of Milton is clear: in and of itself, "a private entity's desire for confidentiality does not permit" nondisclosure under § 19.85(l)(e).

Petitioner's App at p. 27; Decision at ¶ 47.

Page 21 of 25

The Court of Appeals rejected the notion that use of the documents in a presumably proper closed session justified withholding them in advance of that session. That was because they were not internal documents but had already been disclosed to Big Top. The Court of Appeals continued:

The City nonetheless maintains that Wis. Stats. § 19.85(1)(e) applies because "[m]eeting in closed session ... was necessary to prevent those with whom the City was negotiating from learning of the Common Council's reactions to proposed terms, preferences, willingness to accept alternatives, and other matters which would put the City at a disadvantage in the bargaining process." The problem with this argument is that Friends was not seeking access to a meeting—it was simply seeking disclosure of a document that might be discussed at that meeting. By itself, the document could reveal nothing about internal reactions or negotiating strategies.

Petitioner's App at p. 28; Decision at ¶ 49

The Court of Appeals decision is solidly based on and drawn from both the language and policy of the open records law. It is almost always more convenient for governmental officials to avoid scrutiny on controversial matters. But as Friends argued below, and the Court of Appeals recognized, that approach is the antithesis of the policy behind our State's open records law. The Court of Appeals decision is consistent with its previous rulings and those of this Court as well as the language and policy of the statute. Contrary to the City's argument, there is no need for this Court to step in to correct the Court of Appeals.

II. The Court of Appeals did not create or change the standard for awarding attorneys fees to prevailing parties in open records cases

Page 22 of 25

The City also focuses on its view that the Court of Appeals has somehow changed the law regarding when an award of attorneys fees is appropriate in an open records case under the provisions in Wis. Stats. § 19.37. Citing the Court of Appeals decision, the City argues that:

[The Court of Appeals] found that test was not applicable in this case, or indeed in other cases with similar circumstances:

"We hold that where litigation is pending and an authority releases a public record because a public records exception is no longer applicable, causation is not the appropriate inquiry for determining whether the requesting party 'substantially prevailed.' Rather, the key consideration is whether the authority properly invoked the exception in its initial decision to withhold release."

Petition at p. 12-13 citing Decision at  $\P$  4. The City misconstrued both the causation test and the holding and reasoning of the Court of Appeals. As the Court of Appeals explained in discussing the key holding in *Racine Education* Association v. Board of Education for Racine Unified School District, 129 Wis.2d 319, (Ct.App.1986):

Because the test was "largely a question of causation," we did not consider whether there was a violation of the statute. Racine Educ. Ass'n, 129 Wis. 2d at 327-28 ... Instead, we decided that the requesting party was *not* entitled to fees because the lawsuit was not a cause of the release; rather, there was "an unavoidable delay accompanied by due diligence in the administrative processes.

Petitioners App, at p. 113, Decision at p. 13  $\P$  23.

In the Racine Education Association decisions, our stated focus on the lawsuit as a cause-in-fact clearly dovetailed with our consideration of whether there was an unreasonable (as opposed to an unavoidable) delay in release. If we had determined that there was an unreasonable delay in that case, the outcome undoubtedly would have been different. Thus the Racine Education Association decisions adopted causation as the test for prevailing-party status, but the application of that test was intertwined with

Page 23 of 25

the court's finding that there was no violation of the statute: the "cause" of the release was not the commencement of a lawsuit but the authority's prompt action once the records became available.

Petitioners App at p. 114; Decision at ¶ 24.

The Court of Appeals rightly noted that its "causation" rulings have occurred in cases where the issue of whether the governing body improperly relied on (and thus improperly delayed producing the challenged records) has not been directly addressed of decided. *Petitioner's App at p. 114; Decision at* ¶ 24. That is the key difference here. Even taking the City at its word that it was withholding the records under a genuine belief that the competitive/bargaining exception applied, and thus that when it did release them it was because it genuinely believed the exception no longer applied, if the City was wrong from the outset, it seems contrary to the policy and language of the statute to deny an award of fees to the party that demonstrates the violation. As the Court of Appeals noted:

"...application of a causation analysis in all cases would likely thwart the goal of our public records law: to provide "timely access to the affairs of government," WTMJ, Inc., 204 Wis. 2d at 457 (citation omitted), "as soon as practicable and without delay," id. (quoting Wis. Stat. § 19.35(4)). After all, "the purpose of [Wis. Stat. § 19.37(2)(a)] is to encourage voluntary compliance; if the government can force a party into litigation and then deprive that party of the right to recover expenses by later disclosure, it would render the purpose nugatory."

Petitioner's App at p. 117; Decision at  $\P$  29.

It worth noting, as the Court of Appeals implicitly does, that the causation analysis is not part of the language of the statute itself, which provides that:

Except as provided in this paragraph, the court shall award reasonable attorney fees, damages of not less than \$100, and other actual costs to the

requester if the requester prevails in whole or in substantial part in any action filed under sub. (1) relating to access to a record or part of a record under s. 19.35 (1) (a).

See Wis. Stats. § 19.37(2)(a).

Friends has prevailed as a result of the Court of Appeals' thorough analysis, reasoning, and application of the open meetings law consistent with its purpose and intent. To deny Friends an award of reasonable actual attorneys fees now would run strongly contrary to the statutory directive. As the Court noted, strict application of the causation test will often deprive requesters of appropriate awards even when they prevail at showing that the governing body acted erroneously. That will deter both pursuing meritorious claims and could at the margin encourage more withholding of records given the low chance of any concrete consequence from doing so.

The Court of Appeals decision is well grounded in its and this Court's previous rulings regarding an award of fees to prevailing parties. There is no need for this Court to review that decision at this juncture.

### **CONCLUSION**

For the above reasons, Plaintiff-Appellant respectfully requests that the Court decline the City's Petition and leave the Court of Appeals decision ruling that Friends have prevailed in place.

State Bar No. 1023024 Attorney for Appellant

#### P.O. Address:

Case 2019AP000096

400 East Wisconsin Avenue – Suite 205 Milwaukee, WI 53202 414-416-1291 Jrc4@chorus.net

# CERTIFICATIONS PURSUANT TO WIS. STATS. § 809.19(2) and (8) and 809.62.

I certify that this Brief conforms to the rules contained in s. 809.19(8) (b) and (c) and s. 809.62 for a Brief produced with a proportional serif font. The length of this brief is 5505 words.

Joseph R. Cincotta

I certify that I have submitted an electronic copy of this brief, excluding the appendix, if any, which complies with the requirements of s. 809.19(12) and s. 809.62 that said electronic brief is identical in content and format to the printed form of the brief filed as of this date.